INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

No. 22-ICA-207

ICA EFiled: Jan 30 2023

11:36AM EST

Transaction ID 69024180

Earl J. Nicholson and Joyce A. Nicholson,

Plaintiffs Below, Petitioners,

v.

Antero Resources Corporation,
Severin POA Group LLC,
Mark A. Koelzer, Shelley A. Chase, Patty L. Sayler,
Rick Koelzer, Robert J. Koelzer, Jean L. Nyquist,
Sally Lauer, Michael Lauer, Andrea Lauer,
Timothy Lauer, Donald K. Lauer, James E. Lauer,
Barbara L. Bochsler, Brixey Maizano,
Leah Severin, Angela J. Counsilman, Theresa L. Severin,
Charlotte L. McClow, Gary Frederick Severin,
John Patrick Severin, Jane Marie Severin,
Donna Laha, David Joseph Severin, Mary Coleen Bracket,

I. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

The Circuit Court erred as a matter of law in refusing to apply the unambiguous language of the deed and declare that the reservation of "one sixteenth of all the oil and gas in and under said land" reserved only one-sixteenth of the oil and gas in place. Instead, and despite expressly finding that the deed was unambiguous, the Circuit Court nevertheless judicially constructed the deed, altered the intent of the parties and held that the deed reserved one-half of the oil and gas in place.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Relevant Facts

The subject property in this matter is a 117.55-acre tract in New Milton District, Doddridge County, West Virginia ("Subject Property"). By deed dated April 1, 1902, and of record in the Clerk's Office in Deed Book 34, at Page 335, J.W. Severin conveyed the Subject Property to L.D. Nicholson (the "Severin Deed"). (APP. 227). The Severin Deed contained the following reservation that is the subject matter of this Petition: "The parties of the first part also reserve the one sixteenth of all the oil and gas in and under said land . . . " (the "Severin Reservation"). (APP. 228). By subsequent conveyances, all of which are of record in the Clerk's Office, title to L. D. Nicholson's interest was conveyed to John and Joyce Nicholson, the Petitioners, by deed dated November 4, 1999, and of record in the Clerk's Office in Deed Book 244, at Page 28. (APP. 022).

On October 14, 1977, the Nicholsons' predecessor in title leased their interest in the oil and gas underlying the Subject Property to Rockwell Petroleum Co. ("Rockwell"). (*Id.*). Rockwell later assigned a portion of the lease rights to Respondent Antero Resources Corporation, a defendant below ("Antero"). (APP 024). Starting in 2017, Antero produced and sold a portion of oil and gas underlying the Subject Property. (APP. 105). In 2018, Antero commenced sending

monthly payments to the Nicholsons. (Id.). However, the Nicholsons disagreed with the amount of oil and gas interest reflected in the payments issued by Antero, and this underlying action commenced.

B. Procedural History

On October 5, 2020, the Nicholsons filed a Complaint with the Circuit Court of Doddridge County, West Virginia ("Circuit Court"). Thereafter, on March 29, 2021, the Nicholsons filed an Amended Complaint with the Circuit Court, seeking clarification and confirmation on the interpretation of the Severin Reservation.¹ (APP. 017). The Nicholsons and Respondents, JEC Production, LLC, Rockwell Resources LLC, and Robert Jones (collectively, "JEC"), defendants below, asserted that the Severin Reservation for one-sixteenth of the oil and gas reserved exactly that—one-sixteenth of the oil and gas to J.W. Severin. Conversely, Respondent, the Severin Group LLC ("Severin Group"), defendant below, argued that the Severin Reservation should be construed to reserve one-half of the oil and gas to J.W. Severin. (APP. 121).

After briefings were filed by the Nicholsons, JEC, and Severin Group,² the Circuit Court declined to have oral arguments on this issue. On September 28, 2022, the Circuit Court entered a Declaratory Judgment Order ("Order"). (APP. 564) The Circuit Court correctly held that the

¹ The Nicholsons made a good faith effort to notice all interested parties to the Amended Complaint. (APP. 026-099). JEC, the Severin Group, and Antero answered the Amended Complaint. (APP. 137, 121, 100). No other party answered the Amended Complaint or made an appearance before the Circuit Court.

² On March 3, 2022, the Nicholsons filed its Motion for Summary Judgment as to the Declaratory Request (APP. 209) and the Severin Group filed its Opening Brief Concerning Declaratory Judgment Claims. (APP. 357). On March 16, 2022, the Nicholsons (APP. 447), JEC (APP. 479), and Severin Group filed responses. (APP. 458). On March 23, 2022, Severin Group replied to the Nicholsons' motion. (APP. 491). On July 28, 2022, pursuant to a Circuit Court order (APP. 534), the Nicholsons (APP. 537) and JEC filed supplementations to their Motion for Summary Judgment. (APP. 548). On August 9, 2022, Severin Group responded to the Nicholsons' and JEC's supplementation. (APP. 560).

Severin Deed is "unambiguous such that extrinsic evidence should not be considered...." (Id.). Inexplicably, the Circuit Court went on to judicially construe the Severin Deed, and declared that it reserved one-half of the oil and gas mineral estate in the Subject Property, despite the fact that the word "one-half" is unquestionably not contained in the Severin Deed. (Id.)

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court correctly held that the Severin Deed was unambiguous; however, it erred in then judicially construing the Severin Deed and altering the intent of the parties to an absurd result. Despite finding that the Severin Deed was unambiguous, the Circuit Court improperly and explicitly construed the Severin Deed against the grantee and to include a reservation of one-half of the oil and gas. This was a clear violation of West Virginia law in two respects.

First, when a court is asked to interpret a deed, that court must initiate its review based upon the directives and rules set forth in *Faith United Methodist Church v. Morgan*, 231 W.Va. 423, 745 S.E.2d 461 (2013). In violation of *Faith United*, the Circuit Court judicially construed the unambiguous Severin Reservation to find that a reservation of one-sixteenth of the oil and gas means to reserve one-half of the oil and gas in place. However, West Virginia law does not support judicially altering the word one-sixteenth to mean one-half. Application of *Faith United* required

³ While the Severin Group argued that the Severin Deed was plain and clear, it also argued, in the alternative, that the Severin Deed was ambiguous. (APP. 371). The Circuit Court specifically addressed this point in the Order, stating "the [Severin Deed] is unambiguous such that extrinsic evidence should not be considered in ruling on the merits of the [Severin Deed] reservation..." (APP. 567).

The Nicholsons are not appealing the Circuit Court's determination that the Severin Deed is "unambiguous;" the Nicholsons agree with this legal conclusion. The Nicholsons are appealing the Circuit Court's interpretation of the unambiguous Severin Deed including a reservation of one-half oil and gas interest. If any party responds to Nicholsons' appeal brief by presenting extrinsic evidence when attempting to argue the Severin Deed's interpretation and meaning, it should be considered irrelevant and disregarded ("When a deed expresses the intent of the parties in clear and unambiguous language, a court will apply that language without resort to rules of interpretation or extrinsic evidence." Gastar Exploration, Inc. v. Rine, 239 W.Va. 792, 798 (W.Va. 2017). "[A] court should not consider extrinsic evidence to give meaning to a contract unless the contract terms are vague and ambiguous." Fraternal Order of Police, Lodge No. 69 v. City of Fairmont, 468 S.E.2d 712, 718 n.8 (1996))

the Circuit Court to hold that one-sixteenth means one-sixteenth. Although not cited by the Circuit Court, since at least 1907, the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia, (the "Court"), without judicial construction, has ruled that a grant or reservation of one-sixteen **only** grants or reserves one-sixteenth of the oil and gas in place.

Instead of applying Faith United, the Circuit Court cited to four distinguishable cases as its authority for why it ruled the Severin Deed included a reservation for "1/2 of the oil and gas mineral estate." (APP. 564). However, these cases are not relevant to applying the clear terms of the Severin Deed because each case interpreted deeds containing the word "royalty," and/or included a provision that had conflicting, repugnant fractions.

Second, the Circuit Court failed to account for the certainty of title principles that would be destroyed if the Severin Deed was declared to include a reservation of a one-half interest. The Circuit Court declared that a deed with reservation language of one-sixteenth equals one-half. Affirming the Order would make uncertain title to hundreds, if not thousands of deeds for undivided interests in land, as well as put into question the ability to convey or reserve undivided interests in land going forward.

Accordingly, the Circuit Court erred in declaring the Severin Reservation of "one sixteenth of all the oil and gas in and under said land" was for one-half of the oil and gas within and underlying the Subject Property. This Court should overrule the Circuit Court's Order, and declare the Severin Deed was plain, clear, unambiguous, and included a reservation for one-sixteenth of the oil and gas within and underlying the Subject Property.

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Oral argument is necessary under Rule 18(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure because: 1) all parties have not waived oral argument; 2) this appeal is not frivolous; and 3) the dispositive issues have not been authoritatively decided. W.Va. R. App. P. 18(a).

The Circuit Court declined to allow the parties to have oral arguments on the issues presented. Petitioners recommend that this matter is appropriate for a Rule 20 argument because this appeal presents an issue of fundamental public importance as the decision of the Circuit Court below would jeopardize the stability of countless real property titles. *See* W. Va. R. App. P. 20(a).

V. STANDARD OF REVIEW

"It is well established that '[a] circuit court's entry of summary judgment is reviewed de novo." Reynolds v. Hoke, 226 W. Va. 497, 500, 702 S.E.2d 629, 632 (2010); Mason v. Smith, 760 S.E.2d 487, 233 W. Va. 673 (2014).

VI. ARGUMENT

A. The Circuit Court Erred in Judicially Altering an Unambiguous Deed and Changing the Plain Meaning of the Deed to Declare that the One-Sixteenth Reservation of All the Oil and Gas in Place Reserved a One-Half Interest in the Oil and Gas Royalties.

The Circuit Court held that the Severin Reservation, which reserved "one sixteenth of all the oil and gas in and under said land" was clear and unambiguous. (APP. 564). In West Virginia, the law regarding applying the terms of an unambiguous deed is equally clear: "When the language used is plain and unambiguous, courts are required to apply, not construe, the contract." Faith United Methodist Church v. Morgan, 231 W.Va. 423, 745 S.E.2d 461 (2013). "A valid written instrument which expresses the intent of the parties in plain and unambiguous language is not

⁴ "Deeds are subject to the principles of interpretation and construction that govern contracts generally." Syllabus Point 7, Faith United Methodist Church v. Morgan, 231 W.Va. 423, 745 S.E.2d 461 (2013).

subject to judicial construction or interpretation but will be applied and enforced according to such intent." Syllabus Point 4, *Id.*⁵ "It is not the right or province of the Court to alter, pervert or destroy the clear meaning and intent of the parties as expressed in unambiguous language in their written contract or to make a new or different contract for them." Syllabus Point 7, *Id.* (citing Syllabus Point 3, *Cotiga Development Company v. United Fuel Gas Company*, 147 W.Va. 484, 128 S.E.2d 626 (1962)). Furthermore, "extrinsic evidence will not be admitted to explain or alter the terms of a written contract which is clear and unambiguous." Syllabus Point 4, *Id.* (citing Syllabus Point 9, *Paxton v. Benedum–Trees Oil Co.*, 80 W. Va. 187, 94 S.E. 472 (1917)).6

The Circuit Court correctly held that the Severin Deed was unambiguous. However, instead of applying the reservation of "one sixteenth of all the oil and gas in and under said land" to be reservation of only one-sixteenth of the oil and gas in place, the Circuit Court altered the phrase "one-sixteenth" to mean "one-half." There is no support for the Circuit Court's decision to alter the clear meaning of the deed and create a new agreement between the parties.

With regard to the specific words that are used in a deed, "parties are bound by general and ordinary meanings of words used in deeds." Syllabus Point 1, McDonough Co. v. E.I. Dupont DeNemours & Co., Inc., 167 W.Va. 611, 280 S.E.2d at 97 (1981). The McDonough Court wisely noted that "a clear definition [of words] shields the courts from unnecessary litigation." Id. In W. Va. Dep't of Transp. v. Veach, 799 S.E.2d 78 (2017), the Court discussed how having "clear and

⁵ Moreover, "In construing a deed, will, or other written instrument, it is the duty of the court to construe it as a whole, taking and considering all the parts together, and giving effect to the intention of the parties wherever that is reasonably clear and free from doubt, unless to do so will violate some principle of law inconsistent therewith." Syllabus Point 5, *Id.* (citing Syllabus Point 1, Maddy v. Maddy, 87 W.Va. 581 (1921)).

⁶ See also, Gastar Exploration, Inc. v. Rine, 806 S.E.2d 448, 239 W. Va. 792 (2017) ("When a deed expresses the intent of the parties in clear and unambiguous language, a court will apply that language without resort to rules of interpretation or extrinsic evidence.").

broad definition[s]...encourages stability and certainty of land titles...." *Id.* By applying the plain and clear definition of words, courts are able to promote confidence in the drafting of deeds, as well as avoid unnecessary litigation being brought to define every single word, phrase, or clause within a deed.

To be clear, the phrase "one-sixteenth" in the Severin Deed is not ambiguous; and the Court has repeatedly found that the general and ordinary meaning of one-sixteenth is one-sixteenth, unless expressly modified by the language of the deed. For example, in *Manufacturers' Light & Heat Co. v. Knapp*, 102 W. Va. 308, 135 S.E. 1 (1926) the Court posed a simple question. "How can one-sixteenth equal one-half?" *Id.* At issue in *Knapp* was whether a conveyance of a "one sixteenth" interest of the oil in place granted a "one-half interest" in the oil royalty from production on a well. *Id.* at 2. In ruling the grant was for a "one sixteenth" interest in the oil in place, the Court stated: "The language of the [deed], transferring one-sixteenth of the oil in place . . . does not require interpretation. How can one-sixteenth equal one-half?" *Id.*

Likewise, in *Lockhart v. United Fuel Gas Co.*, 105 W.Va. 69, 141 S.E. 521 (1928), the Court interpreted a grant of both oil in place and a royalty on existing production. The granting language provided:

"The said party of the first part grants unto the said party of the second part a one undivided sixteenth interest in and to all the oil in and under that certain tract of land hereinafter described, as well as the one undivided half interest in and to the royalty reserved, or to be reserved, in any gas well that may be drilled on said tract of land. It being the true intention of the grantor herein to convey to the said party of the second part the one-half of the one-eighth of the oil reserved, or to be reserved, in any oil or gas lease that has been executed, and which may be executed on said tract of land, as well as the undivided half interest into the royalty reserved, or to be reserved in any such lease, for each and every gas well to be drilled on said tract. (Emphasis added), *Id.* 521-522.

Relevant to this matter, *Lockhart* affirmed that the words "one undivided sixteenth in and to all the oil" **standing alone**, would convey only one-sixteenth of the oil in place.

In this clause there is expressly granted 'one undivided sixteenth interest in and to all the oil in and under' said tract of land. Standing alone it seems plain that the grantors conveyed one-sixteenth of the oil in place. Not content, however, the grantors explained the grant as follows: 'It being the true intention of the grantor herein to convey to the said party of the second part the one-half of the one-eighth of the oil reserved'

Id. at 522. (Emphasis added). The grantor in Lockhart, unlike in the Severin Deed, explained an intent beyond the grant of an undivided interest of one sixteenth in the oil and gas in place, which is why they ruled the conveyance to be for one-half. Id. There are no such words in the Severin Deed.

Moreover, in *Kilcoyne v. Southern Oil Co.*, 56 S.E. 888, 61 W.Va. 538 (1907), S. B. McDougal conveyed to T. J. Conaway on August 24, 1899, a "one-sixteenth of all the oil and gas within and underlying" the property. Thereafter, on January 26, 1903, McDougal executed an oil and gas lease with an operator. *Id.* at 540. The Court was asked to resolve a dispute between McDougal's successor in interest and the company producing the oil and gas lease. *Id.* The Court's ruling is relevant to this matter because it required a determination of the state of title after the August 24, 1899, deed. "The conveyance from McDougal to Conaway passed to him a one-sixteenth of the oil and gas, whether in place or royalty is immaterial in the determination of this cause, which was not affected in any way by any of the subsequent conveyances or lease." *Id.* at 541. Clearly, in 1899, the grant of "one-sixteenth of the oil and gas" did not convey one-half.

Finally, in the seminal royalty case *Toothman v. Courtney*, 56 S.E. 888, 61 W. Va. 538 (1907), by deed dated May 1, 1894, J. Daniel Toothman conveyed to Joseph McDermott "the 1-16 one sixteenth part of all the oil and gas in and under" a 143-acre tract of land. *Id.* at 916. Thereafter, "Toothman . . . executed to one C. J. Ford an instrument, the true character of which is a matter of controversy . . . but which designates itself 'oil lease.'" *Id.* at 915. C. J. Ford argued the instrument a deed, conveying oil and gas in place. *Id.* Toothman argued it to be a lease. *Id.*

The Court agreed with Toothman, and declared the property interest at issue "is a lease...of this [Toothman] conveyed to Joseph H. McDermott one-sixteenth, retaining the title to fifteen-sixteenths." *Id.* at 918. The Court held "[w]e agree that Toothman had title to at least one-sixteenth of the oil in place and that he did not have title to the whole of it, for he had, by his deed, conveyed one-sixteenth to McDermott. *Id.* at 918

Here, J.W. Severin used the identical language reserving his interest from L.D. Nicholson that Toothman used to convey to McDermott in 1894 being "the...one sixteenth part of all the oil and gas in and under" the land." *Id.* In 1907, neither the *Kilcoyne* nor *Toothman* Court found one-sixteenth ambiguous. More on point, neither *Kilcoyne* nor *Toothman* found one-sixteenth to mean one-half. Had J. W. Severin and L. D. Nicholson intended for J. W. Severin to reserve one-half of the oil and gas, they would have used the reservation language "one [half] of all the oil and gas in and under said land." They unquestionably also did not use any such altering language; and yet, the Circuit Court constructed a new deed for them one-hundred and twenty years later. *Knapp, Lockhart, Kilcoyne,* and *Toothman*7 all stand for the proposition that, unless a contrary intent is shown in a deed, "one sixteenth" means what it says—one-sixteenth; not one-half.

Indeed, the only cases cited by the Circuit Court in the Order actually reinforce the proposition that a deed must contain an additional word, term, or phrase to alter the meaning of

⁷ See also Swearingen v. Oldham, 159 P.2d 247, 195 Okla. 532 (Okla. 1945), the Court was asked to interpret the following reservation: "the grantors reserve to themselves one-sixteenth (1/16) of all oil, gas, or other minerals in or under this land...." (emphasis added). Id. at 0. The Court referenced and relied on Manley, and then went onto state that this reservation was "free from ambiguity...." (emphasis added). Id. at 17. The Court concluded "that the grantors in such deed retained and reserved unto themselves an undivided one-sixteenth of the oil, gas, and other minerals under the land conveyed when and as produced." The reservation in Swearingen is almost identical to the reservation language in the Severin Deed.

In Watkins v. Slaughter, 189 S.W.2d 699, 144 Tex. 179 (Tex. 1945), the grantor of a deed reserved a "1/16th interest in all oil, gas and other minerals produced therefrom" (emphasis added). *Id.* at 699. At issue was whether the grantor reserved a "1/16 royalty interest, or did it reserve to him merely a 1/16 mineral fee interest?" *Id.* The Court ruled that "1/16th" meant "one sixteenth." *Id.* at 700.

one-sixteenth to mean anything other than one-sixteenth—none of which are contained in the Severin Deed.

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