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

II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

 At issue in this case is the interpretation of a reservation contained in a 1902 Deed, which 

provides that “the parties of the first [F.W. Severin] also reserve the one sixteenth of all the oil and 

gas in and under said land.” (Appx. 375-376).    

 Petitioners fundamentally insist that all this Court must do is strictly adhere to the rules of 

arithmetic – and that such a basic application warrants reversal of the Circuit Court’s opinion and 

would more rapidly end title litigation which emanates from fractional reservations in the early 

1900s West Virginia era.  

 The problem with Petitioners’ simplistic and flawed approach is that in the law a 

reservation of “one-sixteenth” equaled one half in the context of reservations of mineral interests 

at the time of the conveyance/reservation at issue, April 18, 1902.  

 
4 At various points the Petitioners’ brief incorrectly states that the Circuit Court’s holding was limited to ruling that 
Respondents “reserved a one-half interest in the oil and gas royalties.” See Petitioners’ Brief, Pg. i, Section VI, B.   
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 To expand, as will be discussed below, the rules that courts must utilize are fundamentally 

not those of arithmetic, as emphasized by the Petitioners, but are rather those of detailed and 

comprehensive textual analysis, interpretation and construction – within the framework of the law, 

custom/usage at the time of a transaction and the parties’ understanding at the time of a given 

transaction.  

 Stated differently, it was the Circuit Court’s difficult duty to determine the meaning of the 

words at issue when they were drafted, even if the use of the same words might generate a different 

meaning today.  

 As will be set forth below, consistent with West Virginia jurisprudence and title customs 

in existence at the time the instrument at issue was drafted and executed, April 18, 1902, authority 

which aligns with how leading oil and gas jurisdictions analyze such issues pursuant to the Estate 

Misconception Theory, the Circuit Court correctly held, after thorough analysis and consideration 

of the case law and customs/surrounding circumstances, that the reservation, and the equation 

“one-sixteenth” equals one-half of the mineral estate in the context of the 1902 instrument at issue.  

 Alternatively, should the Court conclude that the 1902 instrument/reservation is 

ambiguous, the only conclusion this Court can reach, looking at the actual conditions which existed 

prior to and post 1902 reservation and the parties’ own, practical construction of the underlying 

1902 instrument, particularly the land book records, is that the 1902 instrument reserved ½ of the 

oil and gas estate, such that the Circuit Court’s Order can be affirmed on alternative grounds.  

III. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Oral argument is unnecessary because the issues have been authoritatively and correctly 

decided by the Circuit Court of Doddridge County, West Virginia and because the factual record 

and legal arguments are adequately presented in the briefs on appeal. Accordingly, the decisional 

process would not be significantly aided by oral argument. 
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IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW 

“Where the issue on an appeal from the circuit court’s ruling is clearly a question of law or 

involving an interpretation of a statute, we apply a de novo standard of review.”  Syl. Pt. 1 Chrystal 

R.M. v. Charlie A.L., 194 W. Va. 138, 459 S.E.2d 415 (1995).  Additionally, this Court’s review 

of a summary judgment order is de novo.  Powderidge Unit Owners Ass’n v. Highland Props., 196 

W. Va. 692, 700, 474 S.E.2d 872, 880 (1996).    

V. ARGUMENT 

 A. The Circuit Court Was Correct In Viewing And Interpreting The 1902 
Handwritten Deed As Of The Date Of Its Execution On April 18th, 1902, Thus 
Most Of The Precedent Cited By The Petitioners Has No Relevance To The 
Present Dispute. 

 
 In West Virginia, “[a] deed will be interpreted and construed as of the date of its execution.” 

Syl. Pt. 2, Oresta v. Romano Bros., Inc., 137 W.Va. 633, 73 S.E.2d 622 (1952). See also Bruen v. 

Thaxton, 126 W.Va. 330, 340, 28 S.E.2d 59, 64 (1943) (“It goes without saying that the intent of 

the parties sought to be reached is intent existing at the time the contract was made.”).  

Second, the law existing at the time and place of the making of a deed or contract is usually 

deemed a part of the contract, as though expressly referred to or incorporated in it. Syl. Pt. 1, 

Franklin Sugar Refining Co. v. Martin-Nelly Grocery Co., 94 W.Va. 504, 119 S.E. 473 (1923) 

(“The laws which subsist at the time and place where a contract is made and to be performed enter 

into and become a part of it to the same extent and effect as if they were expressly incorporated in 

its terms.”) 

 And third, in West Virginia, a “severance deed is to be construed in light of the conditions 

and reasonable expectations of the parties at the time it is made.” (emphasis added) Cogar v. 

Sommerville, 180 W.Va. 714, 719, 379 S.E.2d 764, 769 (1989); see also 11 Richard A. Lord, 

Williston on Contracts § 30:19, at 203-04 (4th ed. 1999) (“[T]he incorporation of applicable 

-- --- ------
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existing law into a contract does not require a deliberate expression by the parties. Except where a 

contrary intention is evident, the parties to a contract . . . are presumed or deemed to have 

contracted with reference to existing principles of law. The rationale for this rule is that the parties 

to the contract would have expressed that which the law implies had they not supposed that it was 

unnecessary to speak of it because the law provided for it. Consequently, the courts, in construing 

the existing law as part of the express contract, are not reading into the contract provisions different 

from those expressed and intended by the parties, as defendants contend, but are merely construing 

the contract in accordance with the intent of the parties.”). 

 With these principles in mind, this Court should examine the status of the law in West 

Virginia prior to 1902, and near in proximity to 1902, to determine and give meaning to the 

reservation contained in the 1902 handwritten Deed, and the majority of the case law cited by 

Petitioners is inapplicable, and should be ignored by this Court.  

 B. As The Circuit Court Was Correct In Its Conclusion That Construction Of 
The Deed On Its Date Of Execution, April 18, 1902, Leads To The Conclusion 
That A Reservation Of 1/16th Of The Oil And Gas Estate Reserved ½ Of The 
Oil And Gas Estate Under West Virginia Law In 1902/The Early 1900s, The 
Circuit Court’s Order Should be Affirmed. 

 
In Kilcoyne v. Southern Oil Company, 61 W.Va. 539, 56 S.E. 888 (1907),5 in 1899 

McDougal sold and conveyed to Conway one-sixteenth of the oil underlying a parcel of land in 

Wetzel County. Subsequently, McDougal leased the land for oil and gas purposes, the royalty to 

be one-eighth of the production.  As summarized by the later decision of Paxton v. Benedum-Trees 

Oil Co., 80 W.Va. 187, 94 S.E. 472, contrary to Petitioners’ briefing, in the context of the 1899 oil 

and gas transaction Kilcoyne “held that the purchaser of the one-sixteenth of the oil in place was 

entitled to receive one-half of the royalties or one-sixteenth of the oil delivered to him in the pipe 

 
5 The cases are presented in temporal fashion.  
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line.” Paxton, 193. Plainly, the custom/prevailing understanding in 1899, as summarized by the 

Supreme Court, was that a reservation or conveyance of 1/16th operated as an effective reservation 

or conveyance of ½ of the oil and gas estate.   

In McCoy v. Ash, 64 W.Va. 655 (1908), William A. Ash and his wife sold6 to Isaac McCoy 

“one-sixteenth of all the oil and gas underlying all of a certain tract or parcel of land” located in 

the McElroy District of Tyler County, West Virginia, and litigation ensued as to the right to one 

half7 of the royalty; that is one sixteenth of the oil, coming from an oil well producing on what was 

referred to as “the little Gorrell Tract”. (emphasis added).  

 In addressing the application of the underlying transaction as to ownership of mineral 

production proceeds from “the little Gorrell Tract”, the West Virginia Supreme Court plainly noted 

that in the early 1900s in West Virginia, a statement in a deed of a conveyance of 1/16th was a 

plain declaration that the parties were facilitating the sale of half of the underlying mineral asset. 

Id., 657 (stating that “[t]he evidence is plain that these parties were dealing for the sale of half of 

Ash’s entire royalty. Where is any reason for the sale of half of the royalty in the Home Farm and 

the exception of the royalty in the little piece of Gorrell land?”).  

Unequivocally, as correctly determined by the Circuit Court, there is no reason to treat a 

reservation differently than a conveyance as, at this time, different from present, in 1902 the 

general rule in West Virginia was not to construe documents against the grantor. See Koen v. 

Bartlett, 41 W.Va. 559 (1895), Syl. Pt. 2 (stating that “[t]he rule that a deed is to be construed most 

strongly against the grantor is seldom to be relied upon.”).8  

 
6 There is no indication in the opinion as to the date(s) of deeds/instruments.  
 
7 The reality that the parties in McCoy were fighting over a ½ interest demonstrates the custom and understanding of 
one-sixteenth fractional language in the early 1900s within West Virginia jurisprudence/abstracting practices.  
 
8 Affirming the Circuit Court’s opinion will not create title uncertainty across the state. Rather, the opposite is true. 
Abstracters/title practitioners know  that in early 1900s a 1/16th was an effective reservation of a ½ interest.  
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Pursuant to, and consistent with the foregoing, the reservation of 1/16th set forth in the 1902 

handwritten Deed plainly reserved ½ of the oil and gas estate consistent with the logic of McCoy, 

such that a ½ interest in the oil and gas estate should be confirmed by this Court as being vested 

in the heirs of F.W. Severin.  

 Similar to McCoy, in Horner v. Gas Co., 71 W.Va. 345 (1912), the West Virginia Supreme 

Court was again called upon to interpret “one-sixteenth” language in the context of an 1899 

deed/mineral transaction. 

More specifically, in Horner, by deed dated the 18th day of December, 1899, Martin and 

wife granted to L. S. Horner and C. S. Sands for cash “all of the one half of the royalty, being the 

one sixteenth, of all the oil and one half of all the gas within” a tract of 44 ½ acres located in 

Harrison County, West Virginia. (emphasis added) Id.,  

Although there is a distinction at present based on a royalty vs. ownership interest, in 

Horner, the West Virginia Supreme Court was firm that the law in West Virginia in the relevant 

timeframe required the Court to look to the practical circumstance of the parties, and the events 

surrounding the transaction in determining the true intent of the parties in an early 1900s deed 

transaction: 

We are enabled to say that by the deed to Horner and Sands Martin 
and wife only intended to pass the half of what they were authorized 
to transfer, half of the royalty they had reserved, that is, half the 
eighth of the oil and half the $ 300.00 for each gas well. This 
Michael lease existing, and surely known to the parties, and 
providing taxes or dues or rents for the use of the land for oil 
and gas, shall we not say that the parties treated with eyes open 
to it, meaning to transfer to Horner and Sands half of what the 
lease gave to the landowners, a fraction of oil produced, and a 
specific rental or royalty for a gas well?  
 
I confidently assert that the parties contracted with a view to the 
Michael lease, meaning to pass to Horner and Sands one half of 
what that lease gave to Martins. That lease gave light and direction 



14 

to the transfer to Horner and Sands; that light reflects on the deed to 
Horner and Sands, and other light would be misguiding. We must 
interpret the transfer to Horner and Sands by that lease. 

   
We cannot believe that for the sum of $ 445.00 Martin and wife 
would sell absolutely in fee that large fraction of oil and gas, and 
thus renounce control so as to debar themselves from again leasing 
the entirety. We have placed ourselves in the situation of the parties 
at the time of the transfer to Horner and Sands, having the fact of 
the Michael lease as a circumstance then existing and known to the 
parties. 
 
By our cases it is settled that oral evidence may be accepted, to aid 
in construction of a deed, where there is ambiguity, to apply the deed 
to its subject matter, to show the circumstances surrounding the 
parties so as to place the court in their place and circumstance, 
to reflect their intent; but prior or contemporaneous conversations 
of the parties are not admissible. Crislip v. Cain, 19 W. Va. 438; 
Long v. Perine, 41 W. Va. 314; Martin v. Railroad Co., 48 W. Va. 
542. 
 

(emphasis added) Horner, 349-350.  

 Fundamentally, consistent with Horner, Severin POA submits that when viewed through 

the lens of applicable West Virginia authority from the relevant timeframe, the Circuit Court’s 

decision was firmly rooted in West Virginia law.9  

And finally, also relevant to the present discussion is United Carbon Co. v. Presley, 126 

W.Va. 636 (1944). In United Carbon Co., the interpretation/construction of a reservation contained 

in a 1907 Deed, which stated as follows was at issue:  

It is expressly understood that there is excepted and reserved from 
the operation of this conveyance and the same does not convey the 
one half of the oil and gas royalty upon and as to said two tracts of 
land, containing 20 acres, more or less, and 38 acres more or less, 
that is to say the said Shatto reserves the undivided one sixteenth of 
the oil and gas underlaying said two small parcels of land. . . . Id. 
(emphasis added).  

 

 
9 The language of Lockhart v. United Fuel Gas Co., 105 W.Va. 69, 141 S.E. 521 (1928) also supports Respondents’ 
position, and the Circuit Court’s ruling, as such language indicates that the terms 1/16 th and ½ were used 
interchangeably to commonly refer to ½ of the oil and gas estate.  
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 In determining that this reservation vested in the grantor pursuant to the 1907 Deed ½ of 

the value of the asset/mineral development, the West Virginia Supreme Court expressly held in 

Syl. Pt. 1, that “in a reservation in a deed of conveyance reading: one half of the oil and gas royalty 

upon and as to said two tracts of land . . . that is to say that the said Shatto reserves the undivided 

one sixteenth of the oil and gas underlaying said” land, the latter clause is definitive of the term 

“royalty” used as a measurement of yield of oil and gas rather than ownership thereof in place, and 

the reservation, properly construed, entitles grantor and his successors in title, upon development 

of the land under an oil and gas lease providing for a royalty of one-eighth, to receive one-half of 

such royalty.” Although United Carbon Co. involves a royalty interest, not an interest in fee, the 

fundamental logic of United Carbon Co. again supports of construction that the reservation 

contained in the 1902 handwritten Deed vested ½ of the mineral estate in F.W. Severin – the reality 

which should be confirmed by this Court.  

 C. As The Record Solely Contains Custom/Usage Evidence Which Supports The 
Construction That The 1902 Reservation Was A Reservation Of A ½ Interest 
In The Oil And Gas Estate, The Circuit Court’s Holding Should be Affirmed 
As A Reservation Of 1/16th Was A Term Of Art In The Early 1900s in West 
Virginia – A Reality Confirmed By The Parties’ Conduct Near The Time Of 
The 1902 Reservation.  

  
 Since 1900, the West Virginia Supreme Court has held that custom and usage are relevant  
 
in defining terms of art/technical words contained within contracts:  
  

When a contract does not provide in a given particular, particular 
local custom may be proven for its interpretation, so it be brought 
home to the knowledge of the person to be affected by it, and so it 
do not violate fixed statutes or common law.  
 
It is a fundamental proposition that custom and usage are supposed 
to enter and form a part of all contracts where the use or custom 
prevails, in reference to the matter to which the contract relates, and 
that the contracting parties are not only presumed to be acquainted 
with such usage, but contract with reference to it . . . The principle 
upon which proof of usage is admitted is that it serves to explain and 
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ascertain the interest of the parties upon some point as to which their 
contract is silent, and as to which there existed a usage so long  
continued and well known as to raise a fair presumption that it was 
within the view of the contracting parties when they made their 
agreement and contracted with reference to and in conformity with 
such usage, thus explaining the  silence or omission of any express 
provision of the contract itself.

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